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Overview of the Century
In 1904 because of the growth of the population
in the Transvaal, a newly appointed Bishop was
named to be responsible for that part of the
country.

Bishop Matthew Gaughren who had been Apostolic
Administrator was left in charge of the Kimberley –
Bloemfontein area. He had already invited Sisters
of Notre Dame who were teaching on a mission,
Empandeni, in Rhodesia, to send Sisters to South
Africa and he repeated his request, suggesting that
Kroonstad be the place to which they come. This
small town had begun in 1855, had become a
municipality in 1875, and had a very small Catholic
population at the beginning of the 20th century, but
was quite well situated as far as railways and roads
were concerned. In December 1906 five SNDs left
England having been named to be the first SND
missionaries to South Africa. They were Srs Louise
of St Frances, Joseph of the Holy Cross, Thérèse
of the Presentation, Anne of St Gregory and Anne
Editha. Most of them are buried in the little cemetery
adjacent to the Convent on the Hill.

These first Sisters wasted no time. They quickly
opened a small school in the railway camp for the
children of Railway workers, and a Primary Day
School in the town. They found a site outside the
municipal boundary and bought land from Mr
Castignani for a secondary boarding school for
‘young ladies’. They set about learning Sotho to be
able to communicate better with the African people
who lived outside of the town. After quite a lot of
negotiating with the Notre Dame Superiors in
England and Belgium, in 1916 they opened a school
for African children in the area known as Old Cairo,
‘B’ location.

The early days were not easy. A fire destroyed
the Convent on the Hill the night before the Sisters
were due to move into it in June 1908. Two other
fires destroyed significant sections of the Boarding
School in 1967. Because the convent and school

were beyond the munici-
pal boundaries, and de-
spite water rights for the
Valsch River which bor-
dered the south of the
property, an adequate

supply of water was always difficult to obtain. The Rail-
way School never really took off, and was closed quite
soon, pupils transferring to the Day School. An out-
break of Spanish influenza in 1917 did not bypass the
Boarding School. In the 1930s attempts by the Sisters
to build a convent near their school in the township were
thwarted and refused by the authorities. This dream
was realized in another way in 1996 when Sisters bought
a house in Maokeng and moved into it to be more
closely involved in the lives of the families whose chil-
dren attend St Peter Claver’s.

Between 1930 and 1963 different Sisters assisted
in the Blessed Julie Farm School built on Bishop
Klerlein’s Riverside Farm, an opportunity, they saw, to
work among the really poor, work so loved by their
Foundress, Julie Billiart.

Radical changes in the life of SNDs were to come
about after the Second Vatican Council,1961 – 65. A
Mission Statement that they drew up for themselves in
1971 committed SNDs to look hard at how they were
living their charism and serving the neediest sections of
South Africa’s people. The Boarding School was closed
at the end of 1972. A small community took up residence
in Turner Street to continue working at St Peter Claver’s
and to find a new way of being involved in the life of the
local Catholic Community.

Another landmark was reached in 1998 when the
Free State Public Works Department offered to return
to the Sisters the very vandalized buildings that had
been their much loved Convent and Boarding School.
From this offer came into being the Northern Free State
Institute for Community Development (NFSI), a
collaborative
undertaking between the Diocese of Kroonstad and
five Religious Congregations, and the Jala Peo Trust,
committed to provide skills training and employment
opportunities for those in need of these.

Much has happened in these first 100 years. The
pages of this flier attempt to capture some important
moments of the story, in the hope that by studying the
past, we can better understand the present, and plan a
meaningful future.

The Educational Tradition

Education was and
continues to be a focus
of the work of Sisters of
Notre Dame since their
foundation in 1804.

A very early practice
found Sisters educating
poor children and at the
same time children from

more economically advantaged strata of society.  As one looks
back over the past 100 years of SND involvement in the lives and
communities that are part of greater Kroonstad, one sees this
twofold tradition in practice.  Sometimes human resources seem
not to have been equally distributed between the richer and poorer
groups. Whenever the Sisters became aware of
this they took radical steps to address the situation.
Members of the Congregation have been differently
aware of this tradition throughout our history, and
this fidelity to a very precious tradition has kept us
faithful to the vision of Julie and Françoise, our
founding mothers.

Day School
This school was opened in February 1907 less
than a fortnight after the Sisters arrived. None of
the 22 first pupils had been to school before and
presented their teachers with significant challenges.
The first classes were held in St Patrick’s Church in
Murray Street, which had been built by Irish soldiers
stationed in Kroonstad during the South African
War.  After some months a school was built on the
corner of Brand and Steyn streets and progress
was such that the pupils were able to give a concert – the first of
many – in the Town Hall in December.

The Day School continued to educate boys and girls from
the town of Kroonstad until another amalgamation in 1953. A
primary school had been built on the property outside the town,
close to the Boarding School and Convent, and teachers and
pupils were transferred from the Brand Street site to this building.
This flourished until the closure of the school in December 1971.

Railway School
This school, opened in 1907, took place in a temporary classroom
in the railway camp for the children of railway employees. These
workers were migrants so there was never much continuity in the
school and its life was a very short one. Before the middle of 1908

it was agreed to transfer any
pupils to the Day School,
which had continued to
grow.

Farm School
In the middle of 1930, a farm
on the old Lindley Road, four miles from the Convent, was donated to
the Bishop, Leo Klerlein, who set about building a small Farm School
on it to provide education for the children of farm labourers in the
vicinity. He asked the SNDs to provide a Sister to assist the African
teacher employed to teach the children in what was to be known as
Blessed Julie’s School, which began in early 1931. School fees were
recorded as being three pence per month for Subs A and B, sixpence
for pupils from Standards 1 and 2, nine pence for pupils from
Standards 3 and 41. The school logbooks record the struggle to get

the children to attend regularly, a problem faced by
farm schools all over the country, at a time when
farmers had so much control over the lives of their
workers.

One of Notre Dame’s most colourful characters,
Sr Mechtilde Yates, had a long association with this
school as manager. Amusing stories are told about
the donkey cart, and two donkeys, Be Quick and
Hurry Up, she obtained to provide her with her own
transport to get to and from the school.

At its highpoint, Bl Julie’s Farm School had 200
pupils attending it, and classes went up to and included
Standard 6.  In 1956 Mr Michael Mosobela took over
as principal. But in 1950 the Group Areas Act and in
1953 the appalling Bantu Education Act had been
passed, and the future of the Farm School was
doomed. The state withdrew all grants-in-aid in 1958
as well as insisting that only Catholic pupils could attend

Catholic schools. In 1963 notification was received that the school
had to close as it was in an area proclaimed to be for whites only. A
total of 2 477 children
had passed through
its doors.

The Convent on the Hill

Where the hill leads gently upwards
And the town gleams down below.
Where the veld – a far-stretched carpet –
In the summer light doth glow
Where the veld flowers and the aloe
Bloom fair mid desert sands
As a gem upon the hillside
Our Lady’s Convent stands…

The first verse of the school song accurately describes the environment in
which the Convent of Notre Dame, Kroonstad existed from 1908 until
1972.

Though by all standards a fairly small school, it drew pupils first of all from the
surrounding farms, and later from as far afield as Angola, Zambia, Zimbabwe,
Moçambique as well as from all four provinces of South Africa. For most of them
it was a much-loved home from home. From its pupils came most of the South
African vocations to the congregation, with Srs Annamie Farrant and Patricia Kay
being the first pupils to seek to become Sisters.

In addition to developing their prowess on the sports field, pupils had
opportunities to learn many other skills: artistic, linguistic, debating, musical and
dramatic.  In some ways the school was isolated in a predominantly Afrikaans-
speaking environment and continued to aspire to excellence in a British tradition.
In its last years when the Sisters, aware of the immorality of the apartheid system,
explored whether it would indeed be possible to accept pupils of other races into
its fold, advice from some of the most liberal thinkers and educationalists of the
time, was that if such a move was being contemplated let it be tried in a less
conservative environment.

That being said, and separate education being the order of the day, the
Convent was also home to the Sisters who daily travelled to and from St Peter
Claver, the Day School in town and the Farm School on Riverside Farm, for as
long as these existed. It was home
too for the elderly and retired
SNDs, many of whom found their
final resting place in the small
cemetery on the property.

Highlights in the Convent on
the Hill’s existence include the
building of a swimming pool in 1933
and of the glorious chapel in the
same year and the southern wing
in 1949. Former pupils will recall with
mixed emotions the First Aid and
Military Drill activities, the College
of Careers examinations and the
monthly reading of Marks in the
presence of the whole school.

Musicals and operettas, Shakespeare plays in
the Garden, Cherry Lane and the boathouse
on the river are also part of the memory bank.
And then for several generations of pupils,

Michele Romano and Mateo Calvi, the devoted Italian gardeners and handymen and
their families, are part of a collective memory.

The decision to close the Convent on the Hill at the end of 1972 was not one that
was taken lightly, and as such
it is something that still today
can stir up hearts and
emotions. In many ways it
testified to the statistical
evidence that had come to
light in the course of American
sociologist Marie Augusta
Neal SND’s survey of Catholic
Education in South Africa,
undertaken in 1970. Neal
showed that 70% of Religious
Congregations’ personnel
was at that time serving 30%
of the population, with only
30% of Religious Brothers
and Sisters in South Africa
working with the majority of the population who were black and coloured people. The
realisation of this fact burnt deeply in the hearts of SNDs whose foundress had had a

vision of service to the poor. Already back in 1926  Cardinal
van Rossum, head of the Society for the Propagation of
the Faith had written to the Vicar Apostolic, Mgr Leo Klerlein
saying he was edified that while the SNDs in Kroonstad
were teaching both white and black pupils in different
education establishments, they were endeavouring to
make their white pupils aware of the dignity of each human
person, which outlook was in many ways contrary to the
spirit of the times.

December 1972 saw the final exodus of white pupils
at the end of the school year, and the building was sold to
the Free State Provincial Administration to be used as a
Commercial High School.  Sadly this did not last long, and
some years later the building became the property of the
South African Defence Force, to be used as a training
centre for army engineers.  This lasted until 1991.

IIIIIn her book Notre Dame under the
Southern Cross (Ravan Press, 1984), Sr
Patricia Kay’s second chapter about St
Peter Claver School calls this THE
LONGEST TRADITION. Established in
1916, it has grown to be in 2007 an
intermediate school with a considerable

reputation. Today its
principal, Mrs Florence
Radebe is herself a
former pupil. She has a
staff of 29, and there are
over 1 000 learners in
school each day.

1907:1907:1907:1907:1907: Soon after the
Sisters of Notre Dame

arrived in Kroonstad they requested permission from their
Superiors in Europe to open a school for African pupils. When this
request was turned down, they were not to be deterred but learnt
Sotho and continued to visit the ‘location’ regularly.
1914:1914:1914:1914:1914: They were visited by Sr Marie des Saints Anges (Mary
Elizabeth Towneley) from England, who in many ways was
personally responsible for the Southern African Notre Dame
Foundations in Empandeni (1899),  Kroonstad (1907) and Chikuni
(1920). Sr Marie des Sts Anges had been made responsible for
the SND communities and ministries in Britain in 1886, and under
her  there had been phenomenal growth of the Congregation and
its educational works. Fr Richard Sykes SJ, Prefect Apostolic and
Jesuit Superior of the Zambezi Mission region in Africa for two
periods between 1896 and 1919 approached her about sending
SNDs to Southern Africa. Marie des Saints Anges was 68 when
she arrived in Kroonstad and heard the appeal to open a school
for African pupils and felt ‘the blessing of God could not be given
to any work of Blessed Julie’s Institute in which the poor of Christ
were not first considered and provided for.’ 2

1916:1916:1916:1916:1916: Four stands were
rented by the Sisters in ‘B’
location and a single mud
brick room was built and
solemnly opened in April.
The school was dedi-
cated to St Peter Claver,
who himself had given his
life for the poor and opp-

ressed. Sr Andrina Ledwick one of the pioneer Sisters from
Empandeni was appointed to run the school. Her companion, Sr
Mary Theresa Dawkins walked up and down the dusty streets
ringing a bell on that opening day to let people know of the fact. In

1960s:1960s:1960s:1960s:1960s: The decade saw much talk about
finding new premises. The ever-expanding
school, in  Marabastad, had outgrown its
capacity. Eventually the Town Council of
Kroonstad made two stands available in
Constantia, a new section of the township,
now known as Maokeng.
1971:1971:1971:1971:1971: The buildings erected were made

possible with funds sent from the British Province of the SNDs.
Annually the British Province sent funding to enable the salaries
of the teachers both in this school and in St Martin de Porres
School in Orlando West to be more just. The move from
Marabastad to Constantia (A Great Trek) took place with the
assistance of among others, Mr de Sousa, Mr Dalleu and the
late Fr Lewis Balink. An agreement was signed with the diocese
whereby the Congregation took full responsibility for the running
of the school. When Sr Alphonse retired as principal she was
replaced for a short while by Sr Anne Reid, and then by Sr
Veronica Chapman. One of Sr Veronica’s achievements was
the establishment of a well-equipped school library, the first in
the township that was open to other learners from the township

on Saturday afternoons.
1976:1976:1976:1976:1976: In March Sr Veronica handed over the prin-
cipalship of the school to the first lay person to have
this position, Mr Michael Mosabela, who had joined
the school staff in 1964. Mr Mosabela held this position
for 20 years, during which a School Governing Body
was inaugurated, indicative of a the Congregation’s
desire to share the overall responsibility for the school
with members of the community that it served.
1996:1996:1996:1996:1996: When Mr Mosabela retired he was replaced by
Sr Dorothy Castles SND from the USA, who had spent

some years working in Catholic Schools in the Bethlehem
Diocese of the Free State with the Catholic Institute of Education.
Sr Dorothy’s years as principal saw the St Peter Claver learners
participating in a number of provincial and national educational
events, and the introduction of subject festivals and open days,
to which the parents were invited. Sr Dorothy returned to the
USA in 2002 and died in 2006. Since 2002 the school has been

led by Mrs Florence Radebe.
2007:2007:2007:2007:2007: Two Sisters of Notre Dame
continue to work in the school
alongside a 27-member teaching
staff. The centenary year of SNDs
in Kroonstad sees continuing
developments in the school, with
the laying down of sports fields
and the sinking of a bore hole.

these early days there was no priest
to say Mass for the Catholics so Sr
Andrina began each day with a
short prayer service.
1918:1918:1918:1918:1918: The school was turned into
a hospital during the Spanish
influenza outbreak.
1924:1924:1924:1924:1924: Monsignor Leo Klerlein was appointed as Prefect Apostolic
to the area, and he decided to get the Spiritan – or Holy Ghost
Brothers – to build a small Church on to the end of the school
building so that Mass could be celebrated each Sunday.
1926:1926:1926:1926:1926: As the Catholic population of the township grew so did the
school. Sr Brendan Dalton was appointed principal  and the school
log book that she began has been kept up to date ever since. For
29 years Sr Brendan, assisted by SNDs and teachers from the
area, developed the school that grew to over 1 000 pupils in large
classes. The Sisters endeavoured to train the teachers as they
taught, in order to offer as well-rounded an education as possible.

Permission was sought to build a small convent next to the
school so that the Sisters could live among the people, and
supervise a hostel for boarders. This permission was never given.
1933:1933:1933:1933:1933: Sr Alphonse Byrne, a Tipperary woman arrived in
Kroonstad and took over administration of the lower
primary section of the school. She studied Sotho and for
the next 20 years devoted herself to the learners and their
teachers in the classes always bursting at their seams.
1953:1953:1953:1953:1953: Sr Mary McLeish, an energetic Scots woman
became principal. She very quickly learned to drive to get
to and from school daily from the Convent on the Hill where
they lived. Sr Patricia Kay relates a story in Notre Dame
under the Southern Cross of how one Friday afternoon, Sr
Mary, in her fledgling Sotho, instructed the small group of
boys who delighted in cleaning the Sisters’ car after it had
accumulated much dust during the week, to make the car SHINE!
Later in the afternoon, Fr Janssen, the priest in charge, called
Sister Mary to come and see the result of the boys’ diligence! The
lads, armed with glass and sand, had taken her literally, and had
scraped all paint off the bonnet to really make it SHINE!
1950s:1950s:1950s:1950s:1950s: After the promulgation of the Bantu Education Act, the
government withdrew subsidies, and the financial
responsibility of running the school devolved on the
Congregation. Teachers accepted a reduction in
salaries and parents agreed to an increase in school
fees. Sr Alphonse returned to St Peter Claver after a
sojourn in St Francis Xavier’s, Martindale. Among the
achievements of this time was the school’s publication
of its own reading books for Subs A and B based on
the new Sotho orthography.
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